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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 
 

CASE NO. 13-20076-CIV-LENARD/O’SULLIVAN 

 

ANIMAL LEGAL DEFENSE 

FUND, et al., 

 

 Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 

UNITED STATES DEPATRMENT 

OF AGRICULTURE, et al., 

 

 Defendants, 

 

and 
 

MARINE EXHIBITION  

CORPORATION, d/b/a 

MIAMI SEAQUARIUM, 

 

 Defendant-Intervenor. 

________________________________/                                                                                                                           

 

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS OR  

IN THE ALTERNATIVE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (D.E. 68) 
 

 THIS CAUSE is before the Court on Defendants the United States Department of 

Agriculture (“USDA”), Tom Vilsack, and Elizabeth Goldentyer’s (collectively, 

“Defendants”) Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment 

(“Motion,” D.E. 68), filed March 5, 2013.  On April 5, 2013, Plaintiffs Animal Legal 

Defense Fund, Orca Network, People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals, Inc., Howard 

Garrett, Shelby Proie, Patricia Sykes, and Karen Munro filed a Response (D.E. 78), to 
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which Defendants filed a Reply (D.E. 80) on April 19, 2013.  Upon review of the Motion, 

Response, Reply, and the record, the Court finds as follows. 

I. Background
1
 

 On August 22, 2012, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint for declaratory and injunctive 

relief in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.  

(Complaint, D.E. 1.)  Therein, Plaintiffs challenged a decision by the USDA to renew the 

license of Defendant-Intervenor Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a Miami Seaquarium 

(hereinafter, “Seaquarium”) under the Animal Welfare Act (“AWA”), 7 U.S.C. §§ 2131-

2159.  (Id. ¶ 1.)  Specifically, they allege that the Seaquarium has housed an orca named 

Lolita under conditions that violate the USDA’s standards for issuance of a license with 

respect to, inter alia, minimum tank size.  (Id.)  They contend that the USDA’s “recent 

renewal,” as well as their “pattern and practice of perfunctorily renewing Seaquarium’s 

AWA license each year, despite the facility’s flagrant violations of the applicable AWA 

standards,” violates the AWA, is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not 

in accordance with law within the meaning of the Administrative Procedures Act 

(‘APA’), 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).” 

 On October 30, 2012, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss or Transfer Due to 

Improper Venue.  (D.E. 16.)  By Order issued January 8, 2013, United States District 

Judge Samuel Conti denied the Motion to Dismiss but granted the Motion to Transfer 

(see D.E. 39), and, on January 9, 2013, the case was transferred to this Court from the 

                                              
1
  The following facts are gleaned from Plaintiff’s Complaint (D.E. 1) and are 

deemed to be true for purposes of Defendants’ Motion. 
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Northern District of California (see D.E. 40).  Defendants filed the instant Motion to 

Dismiss or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment (D.E. 68) on March 5, 2013.  

Therein, they argue that Plaintiffs confuse the issuance of a license with the annual 

renewal of a license previously issued.  (Motion at 2.)  Specifically, the AWA provides, 

in relevant part, that “no such license shall be issued until the dealer or exhibitor shall 

have demonstrated that his facilities comply with the standards promulgated by the 

Secretary [of Agriculture],” 7 U.S.C. section 2133, whereas the AWA is silent as to any 

requirements for renewal of a license already issued.  (Id.)  Because the AWA does not 

address the renewal of licenses already issued, “the USDA—the agency charged with 

administering the AWA—promulgated rules that fill the gap created by the AWA and 

establish administrative renewal procedures for the benefit of the USDA (i.e., to support 

administrative needs).”  (Id.)  Defendants argue that “[t]hese regulations, and the 

practices employed by the USDA in executing them, are a permissible construction of the 

AWA,” and that dismissal is therefore warranted pursuant to Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. 

Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984).  (Id. at 2-10.) 

 In Response, Plaintiffs argue that the instant motion to dismiss should be denied as 

successive under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(g)(2), and that the alternative 

motion for summary judgment should be denied for failure to comply with Local Rule 

56.1.  (Response at 5 and n.1.)  On the merits, Plaintiffs argue that the AWA’s 

prohibition against granting licenses applies to license renewals, and therefore the USDA 

violated Section 2133 when it renewed the Seaquarium’s license despite its failure to 
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comply with the applicable standards.  (Id. at 13-15.)  In the alternative, they argue that 

even if the AWA is ambiguous, the USDA’s interpretation is unreasonable.  (Id. at 18.) 

 In Reply, Defendants repeat that Congress has not spoken to the precise question 

of license renewals; the USDA was therefore free to implement an administrative renewal 

scheme; and that the USDA’s administrative renewal scheme—that does not require a 

demonstration of compliance prior to renewal—is a permissible construction of the 

statute.  (Reply 7-9.) 

II. Procedural Mechanism for Defendants’ Claims 

 As a threshold matter, the Court must determine whether Defendants are 

procedurally barred from bringing the instant motion.  Plaintiffs contend that the Motion 

to Dismiss is barred by Rule 12(g)(2), and that the alternative Motion for Summary 

Judgment is barred for failure to submit a contemporaneous memorandum of law, 

supporting affidavits or declarations, or a concise statement of material facts, as required 

by Local Rules 7.1 and 56.1 for summary judgment motions. 

 With respect to the Motion to Dismiss, Rule 12(g)(2) provides: “Except as 

provided in Rule 12(h)(2) or (3), a party that makes a motion under this rule must not 

make another motion under this rule raising a defense or objection that was available to 

the party but omitted from its earlier motion.”  “In other words, Rule 12(g) requires all of 

the permitted Rule 12(b) defenses to be raised in a single, consolidated motion rather than 

in multiple or successive motions.”  Manns v. City of Atlanta, Civil Action File No. 1:06-

CV-0609-TWT, 2006 WL 2466836, at *3 (N.D. Ga. Aug. 23, 2006) (citation and internal 

quotation marks omitted); see also 12B Fed. Practice & Procedure, Civil Rules, Quick 
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Reference Guide 303 (Thomson Reuters 2013) (“If a party chooses to make a motion 

under Rule 12, the party must include all Rule 12 defenses and objections then available 

in a single, omnibus motion.  Rule 12(g) must be read in conjunction with Rule 12(h) . . . 

.”).  Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue pursuant to Rule 12(b)(3) 

on October 30, 2012, but failed to assert 12(b)(1) or 12(b)(6) grounds for dismissal 

therein.  (D.E. 16.)  Accordingly, pursuant to rule 12(g)(2), the instant Motion to Dismiss 

under 12(b)(1) and (6) is barred as successive unless saved by an exception in Rule 

12(h)(2) or (3).  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(g)(2). 

Rule 12(h)(2) provides, in relevant part: “Failure to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted . . . may be raised . . . by a motion under Rule 12(c) . . . .”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(h)(2)(B).  In turn, Rule 12(c) provides: “After the pleadings are closed—but early 

enough not to delay trial—a party may move for judgment on the pleadings.”  Under 

Rule 7(a), an Answer to a Complaint is a “pleading.”   Thus, “[a] Rule 12(c) motion is 

premature if made before an answer is filed.”  12B Fed. Practice & Procedure 283 (citing 

Doe v. United States, 419 F.3d 1058 (9th Cir. 2005); Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Estate 

of Crone, 894 F. Supp. 383 (D. Kan. 1995)).  Because Defendants have not yet filed an 

Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint, consideration of Defendants’ claims under Rule 12(c) 

would be premature.  See Figueroa v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Admin., 7 F.3d 218 (1st 

Cir. 1993) (unpublished table opinion). 

Next, Rule 12(h)(3) provides: “If the court determines at any time that it lacks 

subject-matter jurisdiction, the court must dismiss the action.”  Although Defendants’ 

Motion alleges, in passing, that dismissal is warranted for lack of subject matter 
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jurisdiction (see Motion at 1, 3), the Court concludes that it does have subject matter 

jurisdiction under the AWA, 7 U.S.C. sections 2131-2159, and the Administrative 

Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. sections 551-801.  The APA, which was enacted with 

the “central purpose of providing a broad spectrum of judicial review of agency action,” 

Bowen v. Massachusetts, 487 U.S. 879, 903 (1988), provides, in relevant part: “Agency 

action made reviewable by statute and final agency action for which there is no other 

adequate remedy in a court are subject to judicial review.”  5 U.S.C. § 704.  Additionally, 

To the extent necessary to decision and when presented, the reviewing 

court shall decide all relevant questions of law, interpret constitutional and 

statutory provisions, and determine the meaning or applicability of the 

terms of an agency action. The reviewing court shall— 

(2) hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings, and 

conclusions found to be— 

(A) arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise 

not in accordance with law; [or] 

(C) in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or 

limitations, or short of statutory right[.] 

 

5 U.S.C. § 706.  “Agency action” is defined to include “an agency . . . order, license, . . . 

or the equivalent thereof . . . .”  5 U.S.C. § 551(13).  “‘[L]icense’ includes the whole or a 

part of an agency permit, certificate, approval, registration, charter, membership, 

statutory exemption or other form of permission.”  Id. § 551(8).  The term “order” 

includes the final disposition of an agency “in a matter . . . including licensing,” id. at 

551(6),  and “‘licensing’ includes agency process respecting the grant, renewal, denial, 

revocation, suspension, annulment, withdrawal, limitation, amendment, modification, or 

conditioning of a license,” id. § 551(9).  See id. § 701(b)(2) (incorporating § 551 

definitions).  Defendants have failed to refute Plaintiffs’ allegations concerning this 
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Court’s subject matter jurisdiction, and because Plaintiffs “challenge a decision by the 

[USDA],” an agency, to renew the Seaquarium’s license under the AWA, the Court finds 

that it has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the APA, 5 U.S.C. sections 704 and 706.  

Accordingly, Rule 12(h)(3) does not save Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss. 

 However, Plaintiffs’ pled their Motion in the alternative as one for summary 

judgment pursuant to Rule 56.  (Motion at 3.)  That Plaintiffs failed to attach a statement 

of material facts to their Motion is irrelevant.  By the pleadings of both Plaintiff and 

Defendant, it is clear that there is no dispute as to any fact and that the only issue before 

the Court is a discrete question of law—specifically, whether the AWA’s declaration 

“[t]hat no . . . license shall be issued until the . . . exhibitor shall have demonstrated that 

his facilities comply with the standards promulgated by the Secretary” applies to license 

renewals.  7 U.S.C. § 2133.  Answering this question (1) requires no statement of 

material facts and (2) determines which party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  

See AGSouth Genetics, LLC v. Cunningham, No. CA 09-745-C, 2011 WL 1833016, at 

*5 (S.D. Ala. May 13, 2011) (“‘When there are no facts in dispute and the only issue 

raised is a question of statutory interpretation . . . it is appropriate to decide the issue by 

summary judgment.’”) (quoting Cal. Dep’t of Toxic Substances Control v. Alco Pac., 

Inc., 317 F. Supp. 2d 1188, 1191 (C.D. Cal 2004)).  Accordingly, the Court accepts 

Defendants’ alternatively pled Motion as one for summary judgment under Rule 56, and 

will therefore address the merits of Defendants’ claims. 
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III. Legal Standard 

 Pursuant to Rule 56, “[a] party may move for summary judgment, identifying each 

claim or defense—or the part of each claim or defense—on which summary judgment is 

sought.”  “Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material 

fact and the evidence compels judgment as a matter of law in favor of the moving party.”  

Lindley v. F.D.I.C., 733 F.3d 1043, 1050 (11th Cir. 2013) (citations omitted).  The 

moving party is entitled to summary judgment when the non-moving party “fails to make 

a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case, 

and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.”  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 

477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). 

IV. Discussion 

 Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit to challenge a decision by the USDA to renew the 

Seaquarium’s AWA license.  (Complaint ¶ 1.)  The USDA renewed the Seaquarium’s 

license pursuant to administrative regulations established by the USDA.  (Motion at 68.)  

Pursuant to these regulations, the USDA renews previously-issued AWA licenses upon 

the submission of a renewal application, including a signed certification by the licensee, 9 

C.F.R. § 2.2(b); payment of the annual licensing fees, 9 C.F.R. § 2.6; and submission of 

an annual report, 9 C.F.R. § 2.7.  (Motion at 2.)  Because the USDA’s decision to renew 

the Seaquarium’s license was made pursuant to its administrative regulations, the Court’s 

analysis is framed by the Supreme Court’s decision in Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural 

Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984).  Chevron establishes the standard 

courts employ when a party alleges that an agency’s regulations, and actions taken 
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thereunder, are in violation of a statute the agency is charged with administering.  467  

U.S. at 842-43.  To wit: 

When a court reviews an agency’s construction of the statute which it 

administers, it is confronted with two questions.  First, always, is the 

question whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at 

issue.  If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the 

court, as well as the agency, must give effect to the unambiguously 

expressed intent of Congress.  If, however, the court determines Congress 

has not directly addressed the precise question at issue, the court does not 

simply impose its own construction on the statute, as would be necessary in 

the absence of an administrative interpretation.  Rather, if the statute is 

silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue, the question for the 

court is whether the agency’s answer is based on a permissible construction 

of the statute. 

 

Id. (footnotes omitted); see also Koch Foods, Inc. v. Sec., U.S. Dep’t of Labor, 712 F.3d 

476, 480 (11th Cir. 2013). 

 A. Congress has not directly spoken to the precise question at issue. 

 The first question the Court must address is “whether Congress has directly 

spoken to the precise question at issue.”  Id.  The precise question before the court is 

whether the AWA requires that a licensee demonstrate compliance with the statute prior 

to renewal.  To determine whether Congress has spoken to this precise question, the 

Court turns to the plain language of the statute, which provides, in relevant part:   

The Secretary shall issue licenses to dealers and exhibitors upon application 

therefor in such form and manner as he may prescribe and upon payment of 

such fee established pursuant to 2153 of this title: Provided, That no such 

license shall be issued until the dealer or exhibitor shall have demonstrated 

that his facilities comply with the standards promulgated by the Secretary 

pursuant to section 2143 of this title[.] 

 

7 U.S.C. § 2133.  The statute does not explicitly address license renewals.  This is 

significant insofar as Congress has demonstrated an ability to explicitly address license 
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renewals when it intends to do so.  See, e.g., 7 U.S.C. § 85 (“The Secretary may refuse to 

renew . . . any license issued under this chapter . . . .”); 12 U.S.C. § 5105(a) (“The 

minimum standards for license renewal for State-licensed loan originators shall include 

the following . . . .”); 16 U.S.C. § 808 (titled “New licenses and renewals,” and 

specifically setting forth detailed renewal process); 46 U.S.C. §7106(a) (“A license issued 

under this part is valid for a 5-year period and may be renewed for additional 5-year 

periods.”); 47 U.S.C. § 1421(b)(2) (“Prior to expiration of the term of the initial license 

granted under subsection (a) or the expiration of any subsequent renewal of such license, 

the First Responder Network Authority shall submit to the Commission an application for 

the renewal of such license. Such renewal application shall demonstrate that, during the 

preceding license term, the First Responder Network Authority has met the duties and 

obligations set forth under this Act.”).  “[W]here Congress knows how to say something 

but chooses not to, its silence is controlling.’”  Smith v. Under Armour, Inc., 593 F. Supp. 

2d 1281, 1287 (S.D. Fla. 2008) (quoting CBS Inc. v. PrimeTime 24 Joint Venture, 245 

F.3d 1217, 1226 (11th Cir. 2001)); see also West Va. Univ. Hosps., Inc. v. Casey, 499 

U.S. 83, 99 (1991) (“Congress could easily have shifted ‘attorney’s fees and expert 

witness fees,’ or ‘reasonable litigation expenses,’ as it did in contemporaneous statutes; it 

chose instead to enact more restrictive language, and we are bound by that restriction.”);  

 Nor does the AWA contain any other language contained within the AWA that 

could be read to speak to the precise question at issue.  The only time the AWA addresses 

the end or cessation of an issued license is in the context of suspensions and revocations 

under discretionary enforcement proceedings.  See 7 U.S.C. § 2149(a).  In this context, 
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the AWA allows for only a temporary suspension of a license “not to exceed 21 days.”  

Id.  It further allows that, “after notice and opportunity for hearing,” the Secretary “may 

suspend for such additional period as he may specify, or revoke such license, if such 

violation is determined to have occurred.”  Id.  Thus, the only time the AWA addresses 

the end or cessation of a license issued under the AWA is in an enforcement context and 

where it requires due process prior to final action, not in any renewal or expiration 

context. 

 The legislative history of the AWA is similarly silent on the issue of license 

expiration and renewal.  See H.R. Rep. No. 89-1848 (1966); S. Rep. No. 89-1281 (1966).  

Rather, the legislative history focuses primarily on the substantive protections required 

under the AWA and the discretionary enforcement provisions; licensing is rarely 

mentioned and, when it is, it usually refers to a provision requiring the purchase of 

animals from a licensed dealer.  See, e.g., S. Rep. No. 89-1281 at 2644.  Where issuance 

of a license is mentioned in the legislative record, license renewal is not mentioned.  See 

id. at 2639.  Quite simply, there is no mention of renewals in the legislative history, much 

less any requirements for renewals.  Clearly, Congress has not directly spoken to the 

precise issue in this case.  See Gonzalez v.  Reno, 212 F.3d 1338, 1348 (11th Cir. 2000).   

In Gonzalez, the Eleventh Circuit was faced with the question of whether a six 

year-old boy, a Cuban refugee, had filed a valid application for asylum.  212 F.3d at 

1347.  The boy’s great-uncle filed the asylum application on the boy’s behalf; however, 

“[t]he Commissioner [of the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS)]—citing the 

custom that parents generally speak for their children and finding that no circumstance in 
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this case warranted a departure from that custom—concluded that the asylum 

applications submitted by Plaintiff and [his great-uncle] were legally void and required 

no further consideration.”  Id. at 1345-46.  Thereafter, the boy filed a complaint in federal 

district court seeking to compel the INS to consider the merits of his asylum application, 

which the district court dismissed.  Id. at 1346.  The boy appealed, in part, on grounds 

that the district court’s dismissal violated the asylum statute, 8 U.S.C. section 1158, 

arguing: “Section 1158 provides that ‘[a]ny alien . . . may apply for asylum.’  8 U.S.C. § 

1158(a)(1).  Plaintiff says that, because he is ‘[a]ny alien,’ he may apply for asylum.  

Plaintiff insists that, by the applications signed and submitted by himself and [his great-

uncle], he, in fact, did apply for asylum within the meaning of section 1158.”  Id. at 1346-

47.  The INS—which is the administrative agency charged with administering section 

1158, see id.—argued that “because the statute does not spell out how a young child files 

for asylum, the INS was free to adopt a policy requiring, in these circumstances, that any 

asylum claim on Plaintiff’s behalf be filed by Plaintiff’s father.”  Id. at 1347. 

In interpreting Section 1158, the Eleventh Circuit initially agreed with the boy that 

he was entitled to apply for asylum.  “Section 1158 is neither vague nor ambiguous.  The 

statute means exactly what it says: ‘[a]ny alien . . . may apply for asylum.’  That ‘[a]ny 

alien’ includes Plaintiff seems apparent.”  Id.  However, although the statute was clear 

that the boy could apply for asylum, the precise question was whether Congress had 

prescribed a mechanism for doing so in section 1158 and, if so, whether the boy had 

complied with the statutory requirements.  Id. at 1347-48.  The Eleventh Circuit 

concluded that Congress had not spoken to this precise issue, noting:  
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[M]ore important than what Congress said in section 1158 is what Congress 

left unsaid.  In reading statutes, we consider not only the words Congress 

used, but the spaces between those words.  Section 1158 is silent on the 

precise question at issue in this case.  Although section 1158 gives “[a]ny 

alien” the right to “apply for asylum,” the statute does not command how 

an alien applies for asylum.  The statute includes no definition of the term 

“apply.”  The statute does not set out procedures for the proper filing of an 

asylum application.  Furthermore, the statute does not identify the 

necessary contents of a valid asylum application.  In short, although the 

statute requires the existence of some application procedure so that aliens 

may apply for asylum, section 1158 says nothing about the particulars of 

that procedure.  See 8 U.S.C. § 1158.  

 

Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit determined that, with respect to the first Chevron 

inquiry, Congress had not spoken to the precise question at issue.  Id. 

Here, it is even clearer that Congress has not spoken to the precise question at 

issue because the statute is completely silent as to the requirement of renewal, much less 

the procedure for renewal.  Stated differently, it is incongruous to argue that Congress has 

spoken to the precise question at issue—i.e., whether the AWA requires that a licensee 

demonstrate compliance with the statute prior to renewal—when Congress was silent as 

to the requirement of renewal.  As the AWA does not require a renewal procedure at all, 

much less prescribe the “particulars of that procedure,” id., the USDA was free to 

implement an administrative renewal scheme “based on a permissible construction of the 

statute.”  Chevron, 467 U.S. at 843.  Accordingly, the Court turns to the second Chevron 

inquiry. 

B. The USDA’s renewal process is a permissible construction of the 

statute.   
 

 In step two of the Chevron analysis, the Court must determine whether the 

regulations implemented by the administering agency to fill any gaps created by the 
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silence in the statute are “based on a permissible construction of the statute.”  Id.  “‘The 

power of an administrative agency to administer a congressionally created . . . program 

necessarily requires the formulation of policy and the making of rules to fill any gap left, 

implicitly or explicitly, by Congress.’”  Id. (quoting Morton v. Ruiz, 415 U.S. 199, 231 

(1974)).  “As a matter of law, it is not for the courts, but for the executive agency charged 

with enforcing the statute (here, the [USDA]), to choose how to fill such gaps.”  

Gonzalez, 212 F.3d at 1348-49.  Accordingly, the Court must afford the USDA’s 

construction considerable deference: the Supreme Court has “long recognized that 

considerable weight should be accorded to an executive department’s construction of a 

statutory scheme it is entrusted to administer, and the principle of deference to 

administrative interpretations.”  Chevron, 467 U.S. at 844 (footnote omitted). 

 Here, Plaintiffs are challenging the USDA’s administrative renewal process, 

which provides for renewal of a previously-issued license upon submission of an 

application, with: (1) a certification “that, to the best of the applicant’s knowledge and 

belief, he or she is in compliance with the regulations and standards and agrees to 

continue to comply with the regulations and standards,” 9 C.F.R. § 2.2(b); (2) payment of 

an annual fee, 9 C.F.R. §2.6(c); and (3) submission of an annual report, 9 C.F.R. § 2.7.  

These three administrative requirements are all that are required under the regulations for 

renewal of a previously-issued license.  See Rules and Regulations, Department of 

Agriculture, Animal Welfare; Licensing and Records, 60 Fed. Reg. 13893-01, available 

at 1995 WL 106573 (explaining that “the regulations make no provision for the denial of 

a license renewal as long as the licensee filed an application for license renewal on time, 
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submitted an annual report as required by §2.7, and has paid the required fees”).  The 

USDA’s renewal process does not require a demonstration of compliance with the statute 

prior to renewal.  Compare 9 C.F.R. § 2.2(b) (stating that the USDA “will renew a license 

after the applicant certifies by signing the application form that, to the best of the 

applicant’s knowledge and belief, he or she is in compliance with the regulations and 

standards . . .” with 9 C.F.R. § 2.3(b) (providing that “[e]ach applicant for an initial 

license must be inspected by [the USDA] and demonstrate compliance with the 

regulations and standards, as required in paragraph (a) of this section, before [the USDA] 

will issue a license.” (Emphases added).   

 The USDA’s administrative renewal requirements and procedure is a permissible 

construction of the AWA.  To begin with, the AWA does not require renewal of an issued 

license at all.  Moreover, the only context in which the AWA expressly allows for the end 

or cessation of an issued license is in the form of enforcement proceedings, which have 

explicit due process protections.  7 U.S.C. 2149(a).  Thus, while the USDA ensures 

compliance with the AWA (1) prior to issuing a license and (2) through enforcement 

proceedings, it does not, and need not, ensure the same (or require demonstration of the 

same) prior to renewals.   

 With respect to the enforcement proceedings, Congress authorized the Secretary of 

Agriculture to “make such investigations or inspections as he deems necessary to 

determine whether” any AWA violations have occurred or are occurring.  7 U.S.C. § 

2146(a).  Although the statute requires annual inspection of research facilities, see id., 

there is no such requirement for exhibition facilities like the Seaquarium, see id. 
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(distinguishing between “exhibitor[s]” and “research facilit[ies]”).  Accordingly, the 

USDA has discretion with respect to how and when non-research facility licensees are 

subject to compliance inspections, and it has exercised its discretion here by electing not 

to conduct annual inspections at the renewal stage, but rather with random inspections, 

“which the agency feels provide a better opportunity to ensure AWA compliance.”  

(Reply at 9 (citing 69 Fed. Reg. 42089-01, at 42094 (“Enforcement of the AWA is based 

on random, unannounced inspections to determine compliance. . . . This cooperative 

system has been more effective than enforcement actions for each citation.”)).)  

Additionally, Congress explicitly expressed its intent with respect to enforcing violations 

under the AWA: 

If the Secretary has reason to believe that any person licensed as a[n] . . . 

exhibitor . . . has violated or is violating any provision of this chapter, or 

any of the rules or regulations or standards promulgated by the Secretary 

hereunder, he may suspend such person’s license temporarily, but not to 

exceed 21 days, and after notice and opportunity for hearing, may suspend 

for such additional period as he may specify, or revoke such license, if such 

violation is determined to have occurred. 

 

7 U.S.C. § 2149(a).  Thus, Congress did not allow for the termination of an issued AWA 

license through a strictly administrative renewal process.  Nor did it grant the agency 

such authority.  Reviewing the statutory enforcement scheme expressly included by 

Congress in the AWA, it is clear that the USDA’s license issuance and renewal 

regulations—which provide for (1) a process for issuing a license pursuant to the 

directives of 7 U.S.C. section 2133, 9 C.F.R. § 2.3(b), and (2) a wholly separate and 

strictly administrative renewal process that does not include Section 2133’s requirements 

for issuance of a license, 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.2(b), 2.6(c), and 2.7—is a permissible 
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construction of the AWA.  The agency’s interpretation and construction of the AWA and 

the regulations implemented in furtherance thereof must be upheld under the deference 

afforded agencies under the second inquiry of the Chevron analysis.  See 907 Whitehead 

St., Inc. v. Sec’y of U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 701 F.3d 1345, 1350 (11th Cir. 2012) (giving 

Chevron deference to the Secretary of Agriculture’s interpretation of the term “exhibitor” 

under the AWA) (citation omitted). 

 In sum, the Court finds that the regulations implemented by the USDA to fill the 

license-renewal gaps created by the silence in the AWA are “based on a permissible 

construction of the statute.”  Chevron, 467 U.S. at 844.  The renewal of a previously-

issued license is not an issuance of a license as contemplated by 7 U.S.C. section 2133; it 

is merely the procedural mechanism allowing for the continuation of an issued license.  

See 9 C.F.R. § 2.5(a) & (b) (establishing, in relevant part, that issued licenses remain 

“valid and effective” so long as they are renewed).  The USDA chose to promulgate a 

renewal process requiring certification without demonstrating compliance.  See 9 C.F.R. 

2.2(b).  “[I]t is not for the courts, but for the executive agency charged with enforcing the 

statute . . . to choose how to fill such gaps.”  Gonzalez, 212 F.3d at 1348-49.  “The court 

need not conclude that the agency construction was the only one it permissibly could 

have adopted to uphold the construction, or even the reading the court would have 

reached if the question initially had arisen in a judicial proceeding.”  Chevron, 467 U.S. 

at 843 n.11 (citations omitted).  “[A] court may not substitute its own construction of a 

statutory provision for a reasonable interpretation made by the administrator of an 

agency.”  Id. at 844.  Because the USDA’s regulations are not “arbitrary, capricious, or 
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manifestly contrary to the statute,” they are entitled to “controlling weight.”  Id.   And, 

because the USDA’s decision to renew the Seaquarium’s license was made pursuant to a 

valid administrative regulation, the Court concludes that it was not an unlawful agency 

action under the APA, 5 U.S.C. sections 704 and 706.  Defendants are therefore entitled 

to judgment as a matter of law. 

III. Conclusion 

 Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that: 

1. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Summary 

Judgment (D.E. 68), filed March 5, 2013, is GRANTED; 

2. All pending motions are DENIED AS MOOT; and 

3. This case is now CLOSED. 

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this 25th day of March, 

2014. 

     ______________________________________ 

     JOAN A. LENARD 

     UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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